2009-CA-00338-COA T

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

1.	Jason Edward Williams	Appellant/Defendant
2.	Honorable James D. Franks	Appeal Attorney of Record for Appellant/ Defendant
3.	Honorable Jack Jones	Trial Attorney of Record for Appellant/ Defendant
4.	Honorable Charles Hodum	Trial Attorney of Record for Appellant/ Defendant
5.	Honorable Allen B Couch, Jr.	Assistant District Attorney

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE I: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Ensure That Williams Was Advised Of and Understood Each of the Elements of the Crimes He was Pleading Guilty To.

ISSUE II: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Determine Whether Williams Agreed with the State's Offer of Proof, and in Failing to Make a Finding on the Record that the Plea was Voluntarily and Intelligently Made and That a Factual Basis Existed for Williams' Guilty Plea.

ISSUE III: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Advise Williams that the Jury Would Not Sentence Him if He Were Convicted in a Jury Trial.

ISSUE IV: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Advise Williams that He was Entitled to Appeal a Jury Conviction, But Only that He was Not Entitled to Appeal a Plea of Guilty.

ISSUE V: Williams' Defense Counsel was Ineffective in Failing to Object to the Trial Court's aforesaid Errors or to Raise said Errors/Issues at Plea or Sentencing.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This cause originated in the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi wherein the Appellant/Defendant entered separate open plea(s) of guilty to Count One: Manslaughter by Culpable Negligence and Count Two: Aggravated Assault by Culpable Negligence before Desoto County Circuit Court Judge, Honorable Andrew C. Baker on May 11, 2005. Honorable Judge Andrew C. Baker accepted the Appellant/Defendant's open guilty plea(s) (R.E. 25; R. 126, L. 18-29), and sentenced him to twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. with sixteen (16) years to serve and four (4) years suspended as to Count One (R.E. 36; R.137, L. 10-13), and the same sentence as to Count Two, to run concurrent with the sentence imposed on Count One. (R.E. 36; R. 137, L. 23-26). The Court entered its Plea of Guilty and Judgment of the Court on May 19, 2005, which was filed with the Circuit Clerk on May 26, 2005. (R.E. 39; R. 140-141). Appellant/Defendant filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on May 12, 2008 (R. 5-8), and later an Amendment to Motion for Post-Conviction Relief to correctly identify the document as a Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R. 11-12). On January 30, 2009, without benefit of a hearing, Judge Baker entered an Order denying the Appellant/Defendant's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R.E 42-47; R. 14-19). The Appellant/Defendant herein timely appeals the denial of his *Petition for* Post-Conviction Relief, as well as the judgment and sentence of the Desoto County Circuit Court.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The Appellant/Defendant, Jason Edward Williams, (hereinafter referred to as "Williams"), was indicted by the June 2004 Grand Jury of Desoto County, Mississippi for one count of Manslaughter by Culpable Negligence and one count of Aggravated Assault by Culpable Negligence. (R. 28). These charges were the result of a one-car automobile accident which occurred on October 24, 2003 in which Williams was driving at night without the use of headlights. Although all persons

in the vehicle were injured, as a result of said automobile accident, minor passenger Ashley Nicole Flowers was killed, and minor passenger Brian Flowers received a fractured vertebrae.

On May 11, 2005, a plea and sentencing hearing was held in the matter, and Williams submitted separate petitions to enter an open plea of guilty to Count One: Manslaughter by Culpable Negligence and Count Two: Aggravated Assault by Culpable Negligence. Judge Baker accepted Williams' open guilty plea (R.E. 25; R. 126, L. 18-29), and sentenced him to twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, with sixteen (16) years to serve and four (4) years suspended as to Count One (R.E. 36; R. 137, L. 10-13), and the same sentence as to Count Two, to run concurrent with the sentence imposed on Count One. (R.E. 36; R. 137, L. 23-26). During the plea and sentencing hearings, the Court:

- (1) failed to ensure that Williams was advised of and understood each of the elements of the crimes he was pleading guilty to; and
- (2) failed to determine whether Williams agreed with the State's offer of proof; and
- (3) failed to make a finding on the record that Williams' plea was voluntarily and intelligently made and that a factual basis existed for Williams' guilty plea; and
- (4) failed to advise Williams that the jury would not sentence him if he were convicted in a jury trial; and
- (5) failed to advise Williams that he was entitled to appeal a jury conviction, but only that he was not entitled to appeal a plea of guilty.

Williams' defense counsel also failed to object to the Court's aforesaid errors or to raise said errors/issues at plea or sentencing.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's standard of review of a trial court's denial of post-conviction relief is well-settled. "In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a petition for post-conviction relief [we] will

not reverse such a denial absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous." Moss. v. State, 940 So2d 949, 951 (Miss. App. 2006) (citing Kirksey v. State, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss.1999) (citing State v. Tokman, 564 So.2d 1339, 1341 (Miss.1990)). Questions of law are reviewed de novo. Boddie v. State, 875 So.2d 180, 183 (Miss. 2004)(citing Brown v. State, 731 So.2d 595, 598(¶ 6) (Miss.1999).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Trial Court erred in numerous respects in this cause. Further, Williams' defense counsel was ineffective in their representation of Williams in this matter. As a result of the errors made by the Trial Court and Williams' legal counsel in this cause, the Defendant was unfairly prejudiced and deprived of his constitutional rights. Therefore, the plea and sentence of the Trial Court should be reversed and vacated, and this cause should be remanded to the original Trial Court for a new trial on the merits.

#### **ARGUMENT**

ISSUE I: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Ensure That Williams Was Advised Of and Understood Each of the Elements of the Crimes He was Pleading Guilty To.

"A guilty plea operates as a waiver of important rights, and is valid only if done voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, 'with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences". Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 545 U.S. 175, 183 (2005)(citing Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970)). This standard protects a defendant's due process right to receive "real notice of the true nature of the charge against him." Jones v. State, 936 So.2d. 993, 995 (Miss. App. 2006)(citing Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 618 (1998)). "Where a defendant pleads guilty to a crime without having been informed of the crime's elements, this standard is not met and the plea is invalid." Id. (citing Henderson v. Morgan, 426 U.S. 637 (1976). Although the Court taking a defendant's plea is not required to, himself, explain the elements of each crime on the record, it is

that Court's responsibility to ensure a record adequate for ... later review. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Boykin v.</u> <u>Alabama</u>, 295 U.S. 238, 244 (1969)). The Court must, at least, ensure that the record accurately reflects that the nature of each charge and its elements were adequately explained to the defendant by his own competent counsel. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Henderson v. Morgan</u>, 426 U.S. 637, 647 (1976)).

The Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that even a defendant's written form plea petition indicating that his counsel has explained the elements of each crime he is pleading guilty to followed by an affirmation by the defendant on the record at plea hearing that he, in fact, signed and understood the plea petition will not satisfy the constitutional requirements of a valid guilty plea.

Jones at 998.

During the plea hearing in this matter, the Trial Court Judge never advised Williams of each of the elements of the crimes with which he was charged and pleading guilty to, including jurisdiction and venue. Likewise, the Trial Judge did not ensure that Williams understood each of these elements. Furthermore, at no point during Williams' plea hearing did Williams or his defense counsel affirm for the Trial Court on the record that defense counsel had advised Williams of each of the elements and that made sure Williams understood the elements. In fact, Williams was not informed of each of the elements of the crimes he was charged with and pleading guilty to, particularly jurisdiction and venue. Had Williams been so informed, he would not have plead guilty to the charges.

Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that Williams' plea was made voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, with a clear understanding of the relevant circumstances and potential circumstances. Therefore, Williams' guilty plea should be held invalid.

ISSUE II: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Determine Whether Williams Agreed with the State's Offer of Proof, and in Failing to Make a Finding on the Record that the Plea was Voluntarily and Intelligently Made and That a Factual Basis Existed for Williams' Guilty Plea.

Pursuant to *Rule 8.04(A)(3)* of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, before a plea is entered, the Trial Court must determine that there is a factual basis for the guilty plea. Nichols v. State, 994 So.2d 236, 237 (Miss. App. 2008). This requirement is "not a mere formality of the plea process, but is required as part of a 'constitutionally valid and enforceable decision to plead guilty". Aucoin v. State, 2009 WL 755279, 4 (Miss. App. 2009)(citing Carter v. State, 775 So.2d. 91, 98 (Miss. 1999)). A factual basis is not established when the record does not include the stipulation by the parties of the proof to be offered. Boddie v. State, 875 So.2d 180, 188 (dissenting opinion) (Miss. 2004). Should a defendant fail or refuse to admit sufficient facts for the Court to determine that the defendant committed the charged crime, the Court must either refuse to accept the guilty plea or fully satisfy the requirements of an Alford plea. Aucoin at 4.

At the plea hearing in this matter, the State made its offer of proof. The following exchange then occurred:

Court:

Mr. Williams, you heard the Prosecutor relating to you and for the record what he thinks he could show in a trial of this case before a jury. Do you understand and recall the events that bring you here today?

Williams:

Yes, sir, Your Honor, I do.

Court:

Mr. Jones, Mr. Hodum, have you all conducted your own

investigation into this charge?

Mr. Jones:

We have, Your Honor.

Court:

Are you satisfied that the prosecution could probably get to the jury

on Count 1 and Count 2 of this charge?

Mr. Jones:

Yes, sir.

(R.E. 15; R. 116; T. 12, L. 13-28).

After the State's offer of proof, the Trial Court Judge failed to determine whether or not the

Defendant accepted with that offer of proof as factual. Rather, he simply asked him whether he understood and recalled the events which brought him to court that day. These are entirely different questions. Just because Williams recalled the events that brought him to court for plea and sentencing, does not mean that he understood the elements of the charges against him or that he did not disagree with the offer of proof made by the State.

The Trial Judge cannot make a determination that a factual basis exists for Williams' guilty plea unless Williams is given the opportunity to contradict the offer of proof presented by the State. Williams must be offered a chance to agree or disagree with the offer of proof for the Trial Judge to make an informed decision as to the basis for his guilty plea. For example, Williams may disagree with a fact described in the offer of proof which constitutes a crucial element of the crime charged. This issue is particularly relevant in a situation such as Williams' in which he was: (1) not advised of the elements of the crimes to which he was offering a plea of guilty, and (2) not asked whether he agreed with the offer of proof given by the State.

Williams was not asked whether he admitted to the offer of proof by the State, and certainly did not, at any point, admit to any facts which would allow the Trial Judge to conclude that he committed the crimes for which he was entering a plea of guilty. Likewise, Williams' plea was not taken in accordance with the requirements of an Alford plea. As such, the Trial Judge should have refused to accept his guilty plea.

Furthermore, the Trial Judge failed to make a finding on the record that there was, in fact, any factual basis for Williams' guilty plea or that his plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently given. This is a clear violation of *U.C.C.C.R.* 8.04 and <u>Nichols v. State</u>.

In this case, Williams' defense counsel acknowledged to the Court that they believed the State could probably get the case to a jury based upon the State's offer of proof. If an informed and

voluntary plea by defense counsel was the constitutional requirement, the plea might be valid. However, it is the informed and voluntary plea of the Defendant that is required by law. And, in this case, Williams did not make an informed and voluntary plea.

The Trial Judge did not, and, in fact, could not have, made an informed decision on the record as to whether a factual basis existed for Williams' plea of guilty, because he failed to ask Williams whether he agreed or disagreed with the offer of proof. Therefore, the plea was constitutionally flawed, and should be invalidated.

# ISSUE III: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Advise Williams that the Jury Would Not Sentence Him if He Were Convicted in a Jury Trial.

"A guilty plea operates as a waiver of important rights, and is valid only if done voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, 'with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences". Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 545 U.S. 175, 183 (2005)(citing Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970)).

Although the Trial Court did advise Williams at the plea hearing that he was giving up his right to a jury trial by pleading guilty (T. 15, L. 25-29), neither the Trial Court Judge nor Williams' defense counsel advised Williams that the jury would not sentence him if he were convicted in a jury trial. Had he been so advised, Williams would not have plead guilty.

Given these circumstances, it cannot be said that Williams' plea was made voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently "with awareness of relevant circumstances and likely consequences". In fact, Williams <u>did not</u> know the circumstances and consequences of his plea or he would not have plead guilty. As a result, Williams' guilty plea should be deemed invalid and unconstitutional.

# ISSUE IV: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Advise Williams that He was Entitled to Appeal a Jury Conviction, But Only that He was Not Entitled to Appeal a Plea of Guilty.

"A guilty plea operates as a waiver of important rights, and is valid only if done voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, 'with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences". Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 545 U.S. 175, 183 (2005)(citing Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970)).

Although the Trial Court Judge did advise Williams that he was not entitled to appeal a plea of guilty (T. 22, L. 8-28), neither the Trial Court Judge nor Williams' defense counsel advised Williams that he would be able to appeal a jury conviction. Had he been so advised, Williams would not have plead guilty.

Again, under these circumstances, Williams' plea was not made voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently "with awareness of relevant circumstances and likely consequences". Had Williams known the circumstances and consequences of his plea, he would not have plead guilty. Therefore, his guilty plea should be held unconstitutional and invalid.

# ISSUE V: Williams' Defense Counsel was Ineffective in Failing to Object to the Trial Court's aforesaid Errors or to Raise said Errors/Issues at Plea or Sentencing.

The standard for determining whether a defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel is "whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the [process] cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Wells v. State, 903 So.2d 739, 741 (Miss. 2005) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)). The Defendant must demonstrate that: (1) his counsel's actions were deficient, and (2) that, but for the deficiency, there was a substantial likelihood of a different outcome in the case. Vince v. State, 844 So.2d 510, 514 (Miss. App. 2003)(citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 687 (1984)).

It is clear that the Williams' defense counsel was deficient in failing to raise the aforementioned issues. In addition, there is no question that, had Petitioner's counsel not failed to

do so, the outcome in this matter likely would have been different. Had Williams been adequately informed of the circumstances and potential consequences of the charge against him, his plea of guilty, and the relevant law, as required by the Constitution, he would not have entered a plea of guilty.

#### **CONCLUSION**

As previously discussed, the Trial Court erred in numerous respects at the plea and sentencing hearing in this cause. Furthermore, the Trial Court was clearly erroneous and failed to apply the law in denying Williams' petition for post-conviction relief based upon the same issues discussed in this appeal. Lastly, as previously discussed, Williams' defense counsel were ineffective in their representation of Williams in numerous respects in this matter. As a result of the errors made by the Trial Court in the plea and sentence in this cause and Williams' ineffective counsel, the Defendant was unfairly prejudiced and was deprived of his constitutional rights. Therefore, the judgment of the Trial Court should be reversed and Williams' conviction and sentence vacated and this cause should be remanded to the original Trial Court for a new trial on the merits.