IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JASON EDWARD WILLIAMS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-0338-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. WILLIAMS' MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.
- II. WILLIAMS' GUILTY PLEA WAS MADE KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, AND INTELLIGENTLY.
- III. A FACTUAL BASIS EXISTED FOR THE TRIAL COURT'S ACCEPTANCE OF WILLIAMS' GUILTY PLEA.
- IV. THERE IS NO REQUIREMENT THAT THE TRIAL COURT INFORM THE DEFENDANT THAT SENTENCING IS NOT A JURY FUNCTION.
- V. WILLIAMS WAS ADVISED THAT THE ENTRY OF A GUILTY PLEA WAIVES THE RIGHT TO A DIRECT APPEAL.
- VI. WILLIAMS DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the night of October 24, 2003, twenty-one-year-old Jason Edward Williams purchased alcohol for himself and five minor passengers. C.P. 115. The youngest passenger was a mere thirteen years old, and the oldest passenger was only seventeen years old. C.P. 115. Williams and

some of the teenagers began drinking while Williams drove his friends around. For reasons unknown, Williams began speeding on a hilly road and turning his headlights on and off while cresting the hills. C.P. 116. As a result of this foolish behavior, Williams ran off the road. C.P. 116. Williams' thirteen-year-old passenger, Ashley Nicole Flowers, was killed, and passenger Brian Flowers was seriously injured. C.P. 115.

Williams was indicted for Count I culpable negligence manslaughter and Count II aggravated assault. C.P. 28. On May 11, 2005, Williams entered an open plea knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently before the Honorable Andrew C. Baker, DeSoto County Circuit Court judge. Williams was sentenced to serve twenty years with four suspended on each count, with both sentences running concurrently. T. 35. On May 12, 2008, Williams, represented by counsel, filed a motion for post-conviction relief which was summarily denied by the trial court. C.P. 5-8, 14-19.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Williams' motion for post-conviction relief is procedurally barred because he failed to file his motion in the trial court within three years of his conviction. Alternatively, Williams' claims are without merit.

Williams' guilty plea was made knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. He was advised of the nature of the charges against him and the consequences of entering a guilty plea, as well as the minimum and maximum sentence and the constitutional rights he would forfeit as a result of entering a guilty plea. Williams' specific claims that he was not informed of the elements of the crimes charged, no factual basis existed for the acceptance of his guilty plea, and that he was not informed that he would forfeit his right to a direct appeal are all contradicted by the record. Williams also claims that the trial court did not inform him that sentencing is not a jury function. There is no requirement that the trial court so inform a defendant.

Williams also claims that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. However, he has wholly failed to show deficient performance or prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. WILLIAMS' MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Williams pleaded guilty and was sentenced on May 11, 2005. His motion for post-conviction relief was not filed until May 12, 2008. A prisoner must file his motion for post-conviction relief within three years of the judgment of conviction. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-5(2). Although Williams' motion was filed just outside the three year limit, it should still be deemed procedurally barred in accordance with the statute. Williams does not argue that he meets a statutory exception to the time bar, or even recognize that his claim is time-barred. Further, as Williams is represented by counsel, he does not receive the benefit of the so-called prison mailbox rule. Without abandoning its position that Williams' claims are procedurally barred, the State would also show that his arguments are without merit.

II. WILLIAMS' GUILTY PLEA WAS MADE KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, AND INTELLIGENTLY.

A trial court's denial of a motion for post-conviction relief will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. *Noel v. State*, 943 So. 2d 768, 770 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). A guilty plea is valid only if it is entered into "voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences." *McNeal v. State*, 951 So.2d 615 (¶6) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). A plea is voluntary when the defendant has been informed of the nature of the charges against him and the consequences of entering a guilty plea. *White v. State*, 921 So.2d 402, 405 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Alexander v. State*, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss.1992)). The trial court must inform the defendant of the minimum and

maximum prescribed penalties and the constitutional rights forfeited by entering a guilty plea. *Id.*An examination of the plea colloquy shows that Williams was informed of the nature of the charges against him and the consequences of entering a guilty plea, as well as the minimum and maximum sentences and the constitutional rights he would forfeit as a result of entering a guilty plea. As such, his plea was voluntarily and intelligently given.

Relying on Jones v. State, 936 So. 2d 993 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), Williams claims that his guilty plea was involuntary because the trial court did not ensure that Williams understood each of the elements of the crimes to which he pleaded guilty. In *Jones*, the trial court's summary denial of post-conviction relief was reversed based on the appellant's claim that his plea was not knowing, voluntary, and intelligent because he had not been informed of the elements of the offense to which he pleaded guilty. Id. at 994 (¶3). However, this honorable Court recently stated that the holding in Jones is limited to situations in which the form plea petition is the only proof in the record that the guilty plea petitioner was informed of the nature and element of the charge. Simoneaux v. State, No. 2007-CA-01983-COA (¶25) (July 21, 2009 Miss. Ct. App.). In *Simoneaux*, the appellant, like Williams, relied on Jones in arguing that his guilty plea was given involuntarily because the trial court did not ensure that he understood the elements of the crime charged. Id. This Court found that the trial court's questioning at the plea hearing established that defense counsel had gone over the charges and elements of the crimes charged, distinguishing Simoneaux from Jones. Id. at (¶28). Specifically, the exchange between the trial court judge and Simoneaux at the guilty plea hearing was as follows.

The Court:

Did [your lawyer] go over the indictments with you and the elements

of each crime.

Defendant:

Yes, sir.

The Court:

Do you understand the elements of the crimes?

Defendant:

Yes, sir.

Id. at (¶29). This Court noted that there is no requirement that the trial court explain the elements of the crime to the defendant. Id. Instead, "the constitutional prerequisites of a valid plea may be satisfied where the record accurately reflects that the nature of the charge and the elements of the crime were explained to the defendant by his own, competent counsel." Id. (quoting Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 545 U.S. 175, 183 (2005)).

Although the trial court in the present case did not explain the elements of manslaughter and aggravated assault to Williams or ask Williams if defense counsel explained the elements, nor did defense counsel state on the record that he had explained the elements, proof that Williams was informed of the nature and element of the charge is not limited to the form plea petition. Unlike Jones, the prosecutor in the present case gave a very detailed recitation of the facts the State intended to prove if Williams elected to proceed to trial. That recitation laid out all of the elements of the crimes charged. T. 12-13. After the recitation of facts which laid out the elements of manslaughter and aggravated assault, Williams stated on the record that recalled and understood that the facts recited by the State were the basis for his charges. T. 13. Because the statement of facts included the elements of the crimes charged, Williams' on-the-record recognition is tantamount to an acknowledgment that understood the elements of the crimes charged. Additionally, Williams' indictment also tracked the language of the culpable negligence manslaughter and aggravated assault statutes, thereby putting Williams on notice of the elements of the crimes charged. The Jones court noted that the purpose of the requirement of ensuring that the elements of the crime have been explained to the defendant before accepting his guilty plea is to ensure "an intelligent assessment by the defendant of: (1) whether he has in fact done anything wrong under the law, and (2) the likelihood that he stands to be convicted if he exercise his right to a jury trial." *Jones*, 936 So. 2d at 997 (¶17) (quoting Gaskin v. State, 618 So.2d 103 (Miss. 1993)).

While a form plea petition in which the defendant swears that defense counsel has explained the elements of the crimes charged may not suffice on its own to show that a defendant has been informed of the nature and elements of the crimes charged, such an assertion in combination with an indictment which lays out the elements of the crimes and a recitation of the factual basis at the plea hearing which also lays out the elements of the crimes charged undoubtedly suffice to show that Williams understood the nature and elements of the crimes for which he admitted guilt.

In Gaskin v. State, the appellant alleged that his plea was involuntary because the trial court failed to advised him of the elements of the crimes to which he pleaded guilty. 618 So.2d 103 (Miss. 1993). The Mississippi Supreme Court held that the trial court's error in failing to advise a defendant of the elements of the crime charged is harmless "if it can be shown that prior to the court's acceptance of [the defendant's] plea, he had already been advised through other sources of the critical elements of the offenses he was charged with." Id. at 107. The Gaskin court found that the information adequately advised Gaskin of the elements of the crime charged. Id. See also Carter v. State, 775 So.2d 91, 98 (\$29) (Miss. 1999) (acknowledging the holding in Gaskin that "in some cases, the charging papers may be sufficient to inform the defendant of the elements of the crime with which he is charged."). The State would note that the Jones opinion seemed to dismiss Gaskin and Carter by simply noting that those decisions predate Stumpf. However, Gaskin and Carter are still good law and in no way offend the United States Supreme Court's holding in Stumpf. All three cases acknowledge that an explanation of the elements of the crime to which the defendant wishes to plead guilty can be explained to the defendant by a source other than the trial court judge.

¹Had the *Gaskin* court had the benefit of the *Stumpf* opinion, the *Gaskin* court would likely have found no error rather than harmless error since *Stumpf* clarified that the United States Supreme Court has "never held that the judge must himself explain the elements of each charge to the defendant on the record." *Stumpf*, 125 U.S. at 153.

Because the record affirmatively shows that Williams was made aware of the elements of manslaughter and aggravated assault prior to entering a plea, his claim that his plea was involuntary must fail.

III. A FACTUAL BASIS EXISTED FOR THE TRIAL COURT'S ACCEPTANCE OF WILLIAMS' GUILTY PLEA.

A trial court must ensure that a factual basis exists before the court may accept a guilty plea. URCCC 8.04(A)(3). Reviewing courts must ensure that the record contains facts which are "sufficiently specific to allow the court to determine that the defendant's conduct was within the ambit of that defined as criminal." *Lott v. State*, 597 So.2d 627, 628 (Miss. 1992) (quoting *United States v. Oberski*, 734 F.2d 1030, 1031 (5th Cir. 1984)). A factual basis for a guilty plea exists where the State recites facts which constitute the crime charge. *Brown v. State*, 989 So.2d 882, 884 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Corley v. State*, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991)).

Williams' claim that no factual basis existed for the acceptance of his guilty plea is wholly contradicted by the record. As previously stated, the prosecutor gave a detailed account of the facts the State intended to prove if Williams proceeded to trial.

BY MR. COUCH:

Yes, sir, Your Honor. The State would show beyond a reasonable doubt with credible and admissible evidence, in Count 1 the Defendant did on or about the 24th day of October of 2003 kill Ashley Nicole Flowers by culpable negligence; and in Count 2, on that same day, did recklessly cause serious bodily injury to Brian Flowers under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life by operating his vehicle, in which Brian Flowers was a passenger, and said conduct resulted in the vehicle leaving the roadway, crashing and causing Brian Flowers to suffer a fractured vertebrae.

The facts would show, Your Honor, that Mr. Williams at the time was 21 years old. He had five minor passengers in his vehicle, the oldest being 17; the youngest being 13, and that was Ashley Nicole Flowers. Around eight o' clock that night

is when this incident occurred, but just prior to that, Mr. Williams had purchased a large amount of alcohol with funds provided to him by some of the minors in the vehicle. Some of those minors were drinking, along with Mr. Williams.

He proceeded to a very hilly area on a road that connects the State of Tennessee with Southaven, Mississippi and was going over this road at a high rate of speed and alternately turning his lights on and off and cresting the hills. The last time he did so, his vehicle overturned, causing the injuries to Brian Flowers and the injuries that led to the death of Ashley Nicole Flowers.

All these events occurred in DeSoto County, therefore within the jurisdiction of this Court.

BY THE COURT:

Mr. Williams, you heard the Prosecutor relating to you and for the record what he thinks he could show in a trial of this case before a jury. Do you understand and recall the events that bring you here today?

BY THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir, Your Honor, I do.

T. 12-13. The record excerpt not only shows that the State provided a detailed factual basis for the plea, but also shows that Williams indicated that he recalled those facts and understood that those facts formed the basis of his manslaughter and aggravated assault charges. Williams claims that he was not given the opportunity to contradict the offer of proof presented by the State. However, Williams stated that he remembered the events that the prosecutor described. One cannot remember something that did not happen. Williams' statement that he remembered the events described by the prosecutor is the functional equivalent of Williams admitting that the facts were true. If Williams disagreed with the State's offer of proof, the time for expressing such was at the guilty plea hearing. Furthermore, Williams agreed that the State's offer of proof was true by entering a valid guilty plea.

IV. THERE IS NO REQUIREMENT THAT THE TRIAL COURT INFORM THE DEFENDANT THAT SENTENCING IS NOT A JURY FUNCTION.

Williams cites to no case law which states that the trial court must inform a defendant that

the jury does not determine the sentence if he proceeds to trial and is found guilty. The reason for the lack of citation is because there is no such requirement. Williams' failure to cite legal authority renders his third assignment of error procedurally barred from appellate review. *Young v. State*, 919 So.2d 1047, 1049 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

V. WILLIAMS WAS ADVISED THAT THE ENTRY OF A GUILTY PLEA WAIVES THE RIGHT TO A DIRECT APPEAL.

As previously discussed, Williams was informed of the nature of the charges against him and the consequences of entering a guilty plea, as well as the minimum and maximum sentence and the constitutional rights he would forfeit as a result of entering a guilty plea. Williams claims that he was not specifically told that if he proceeded to trial and was convicted that he had the right to file a direct appeal. However, Williams acknowledges that he was told that would not be entitled to appeal his guilty plea. The exact language used by the trial court to advise Williams that he was waiving his right to appeal by entering a guilty plea was, "Also, I want each of you to understand fully that if I accept your offered pleas today, for all practical purposes, you are giving up your right to appeal any action taken here at the Circuit Court level to the State Supreme Court"

T. 22. The record clearly shows that Williams was fully advised of the constitutional rights he forfeited by entering a valid guilty plea.

VI. WILLIAMS DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

In his final issue, Williams cites the *Strickland* standard and claims that defense counsel was deficient "in failing to raise the aforementioned issues." As shown, Williams failed to show error in any of his assignments of error. No reversible error occurred in the present case, and Williams has failed to show deficient performance or prejudice.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm the trial court's denial of post-conviction relief.